
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

AGENDA       

 
This meeting will be webcast live and the video archive published on our 

website 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Tuesday, 26th November, 2024 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall 
 
 
Members: Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan (Chairman) 

Councillor Jacob Flear (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Moira Westley (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Eve Bennett 
Councillor Trevor Bridgwood 
Councillor Liz Clews 
Councillor Adam Duguid 
Councillor Paul Key 
Councillor Paul Lee 
Councillor Lynda Mullally 
Councillor Maureen Palmer 
Councillor Roger Pilgrim 

 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.  Minutes of the previous meeting 
To confirm and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 15th 
October, 2024.  
 

(PAGES 3 - 7) 

3.  Members' Declarations of Interest 
Members may make any declarations of interest at this point and 
may also make them at any point during the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Matters Arising Schedule 
Matters arising schedule setting out current position of previously 
agreed actions as at 18th November 2024.  
 

(PAGE 8) 

Public Document Pack



5.  Public Reports   

i)  Scrutiny of Progress & Delivery Reporting through the 
Policy Committees: Quarter 2 2024/25 
 

(PAGES 9 - 47) 

6.  General Work Items   

i)  Forward Plan 
 

(PAGES 48 - 55) 

ii)  Committee Workplan 
 

(PAGE 56) 

 
 

Ian Knowles 
Head of Paid Service 

The Guildhall 
Gainsborough 

 
Monday, 18 November 2024 

 
 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  15 October 2024 
 

1 
 

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of the Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Council 
Chamber - The Guildhall on  15 October 2024 commencing at 6.30 pm. 
 
 
Present: Councillor Paul Howitt-Cowan (Chairman) 

 Councillor Jacob Flear (Vice-Chairman) 

  

 Councillor Trevor Bridgwood 

 Councillor Liz Clews 

 Councillor Paul Key 

 Councillor Lynda Mullally 

 Councillor Maureen Palmer 

 Councillor Roger Pilgrim 

 Councillor Stephen Bunney 

 Councillor Mrs Mandy Snee 

 
In Attendance:  
Inspector Michael Head Lincolnshire Police 
Nova Roberts Director of Change Management, ICT & Regulatory 

Services 
Andy Gray Housing & Environmental Enforcement Manager 
Darren Mellors Performance & Programme Manager 
Ele Snow Senior Democratic and Civic Officer 
Natalie Smalley Democratic and Civic Officer 
 
Apologies: Councillor Moira Westley 

Councillor Eve Bennett 
 
 
18 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 
The Senior Democratic and Civic Officer explained there were two sets of minutes for 
signing. She explained the minutes from 30 July 2024 were presented at the last meeting, 
and had since been edited to include the required amendments; however, it was brought to 
Members’ attention before the meeting that evening that whilst some Councillors were 
present at the 30 July meeting, the record no longer reflected that. Members were asked to 
agree the 30 July minutes as a correct record, being assured that the attendance record 
would be updated accordingly. 
 
Having been moved and seconded it was 
 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on 30 July 2024 be confirmed and signed as a correct record. 

 
The Committee was then asked to confirm the accuracy of the second set of minutes, and 
having been moved and seconded it was 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  15 October 2024 
 

2 
 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on 3 September 2024 be confirmed and signed as a correct record. 

 
 
19 MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting. 
 
 
20 MATTERS ARISING SCHEDULE 

 
After the Senior Democratic and Civic Officer had provided a short update regarding the 
Matters Arising Schedule, a Member of the Committee asked a question regarding the 
Future4Me organisation. He emphasised the importance of the service offered by the 
organisation and enquired whether an explanation of the service provided by Future4Me 
could be distributed to all Members before Future4Me representatives came to Committee to 
present. 
 
Councillor T Bridgwood then proceeded to inform the Committee that the Government had 
produced an online Renewable Energy Planning Database, with 1,564 applications for 
battery storage sites nationwide, and 14 of those sites approximated in the West Lindsey 
District. He explained that he was aware of Councillors in other areas raising concerns 
regarding these sites, and highlighted concern that there was a lack of legislation in relation 
to battery storage sites. He continued that local fire authorities were not statutory consultees, 
meaning that their comments may not have been considered by policymakers. 
 
The Chairman thanked Councillor Bridgwood for raising the issue and stressed the serious 
nature of the matter. This was further reiterated by another Member of the Committee, who 
enquired whether the matter could be moved at Full Council, with a view to a potential 
lobbying standpoint.  
 
The Director of Change Management, ICT and Regulatory Services added that the 
Committee had requested the Director of Planning, Regeneration and Communities to 
present to the Committee regarding legislation and policy around battery storage sites. She 
confirmed that the presentation would take place after an active planning application had 
been determined, and that continued liaison would be maintained with Members to update 
them regarding ongoing battery storage site concerns.  
 
With no further comments or questions, the Matters Arising Schedule was DULY NOTED. 
 
 
21 PRESENTATION ITEM - LINCOLNSHIRE POLICE 

 
The Chairman welcomed Inspector Michael Head of Lincolnshire Police to the Committee, 
who proceeded to present the Lincolnshire Police Annual Update.  
 
Inspector Head gave an overview of his background in the role and explained that the 
previous year had been difficult due to a force-wide restructure resulting in a reduced 
number of Police Community Support Officers (PSCOs); alongside issues at Scampton; and 
other serious issues force-wide that had impacted on staffing in West Lindsey. Despite this, 

Page 4



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  15 October 2024 
 

3 
 

he attributed policing successes in the local area in large part due to the close working 
partnerships established with Council Officers and Councillors, working closely together to 
reduce Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), providing safeguarding education, and partnering on 
long-term problem solving. Inspector Head detailed how regular updates were sent via email 
to Parish Councils but explained how he hoped to get more feedback from them in the 
future. A Member later responded that a closer working relationship may be more of a 
challenge for some Parish Councils, due to the infrequency of Parish Council meetings.  
 
The Inspector then outlined the Neighbourhood Policing Remodel, which entailed a 
transition to an evidence-based policing approach, which ensured a better allocation of 
resources for different areas; he explained how areas which were considered high-risk in 
terms of crime would be allocated more resources, such as PSCOs, compared with low-risk 
areas. It was added that PCSOs had been reduced in numbers, with fewer in operation than 
expected due to funding, meaning fewer were allocated to rural areas as planned.  
 
Members heard there were four different teams working from Gainsborough and Market 
Rasen; each team consisted of one Sergeant and ten Constables who would respond to 999 
and 101 calls. He then gave an overview on the policing model for West Lindsey, 
highlighting that the district was split into nine separate beat codes, each of which had their 
own Neighbourhood Policing Team and priorities. Details of the geography of each of the 
nine areas was then outlined together with the staffing and priorities for each. Detailed crime 
figures for each beat code were presented to Members, with a summary that the crime 
figures had generally reduced.  
 
Attention was drawn to the impact of the crime statistics, as the Inspector explained that by 
using an evidence-based policing model, it was challenging to make the case for additional 
resources for his team when lower crime figures appeared to reflect less criminal activity. He 
emphasised that he believed the lower crime figures were impacted by reduced reporting 
rates, rather than primarily a reduction in criminal activity.  
 
It was explained that Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBOs) were being considered as one of 
their main policing tools in neighbouring policing. Inspector Head outlined that such orders 
could run for a period of two years and recipients could face a custodial sentence should 
they breach the mandated condition; Members heard there were six CBOs in place in West 
Lindsey. The increase in use of Closure Orders (COs) was also brought to the attention of 
the Committee, as the Inspector detailed how these could be used to police anti-social 
behaviour, as well as drug-related crime. It was explained that a full Closure Order could 
prevent the residents living at a particular address, or a partial Closure Order, which would 
stop visitors to a particular address.  
 
The Chairman thanked Inspector Head for his presentation and his dedication in policing the 
community; this sentiment was reiterated by several Members throughout the discussion.  
 
Cllr S Bunney expressed concern regarding the lack of crime reporting in the local area, and 
the reduced levels of Police staff. He highlighted the relationship between a lack of Police 
presence in rural areas and a lack of crime reporting, explaining that people would be less 
likely to report crime if they felt that the Police did not have the resources to address it. In the 
event of reporting a crime as a third party, it was enquired how Councillors could support the 
Police to ensure that reporting figures were as accurate as possible. Inspector Head later 
clarified that third party reporting was recorded in the statistics, and that it was used to 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  15 October 2024 
 

4 
 

determine what kind of investigation would take place; he gave the example of obtaining 
intelligence through monitoring local social media groups. 
 
The same Member raised the crime statistics regarding the large rural area of Welton and 
Hemswell, and other similar large rural areas; he suggested that if Welton and Hemswell 
had been examined as statistically separate, then more resources may have been allocated 
to one of the areas under an evidenced-based policing model, due to one area necessitating 
more resources than the other. The Inspector later agreed with the Member regarding the 
impact of understaffing and responded that he would raise the possibility of dividing the 
crime figures of Welton and Hemswell. 
 
Cllr M Snee enquired about the reported increase in sexual offences; she asked whether the 
increase was explained by an improved Police approach to dealing with domestic violence. 
Inspector Head responded in agreement, stating that he believes the reported increase was 
largely due to Officers being better skilled when engaging with victims of crime, as well as 
increased societal awareness of violence against women and girls.  
 
A question was asked by Cllr P Key regarding the redeployment of resources outside of 
West Lindsey, and whether the negative impact of redeployment could be mitigated or 
compensated against under the evidence-based policing model. The response from 
Inspector Head explained why redeployment occurred, which was often due to crimes 
outside of West Lindsey requiring a temporary need for more Police staff, which would often 
inadvertently affect the region by reducing the capacity of other forces to assist in West 
Lindsey. He explained that the largest current constraint on his team’s time was in making 
an arrest, which involved extensive travelling amongst other time-consuming processes.  
 
Cllr P Key enquired about the impact of the Government’s early prisoner release scheme on 
the West Lindsey District. Inspector Head replied that the effects of the scheme had not 
been felt as much in the district as in bigger cities, such as Lincoln, due to many prisoners 
being released as homeless, and remaining in the city to access its support services. It was 
emphasised that despite the scheme, national shoplifting figures appeared to have reduced.  
 
Cllr S Bunney returned to the topic of barriers to reporting crime; he asked whether progress 
had been made on improving the reporting system. The Member outlined how contacting 
101, or reporting via the internet, was off-putting and difficult for some. He cited how 
excessive waiting times on the phone deterred many from reporting a crime. Inspector Head 
agreed, explaining he had raised these obstacles with the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC). Questions were asked regarding how dropped calls were reported in the statistics, 
with more detailed statistics of call handling requested from the Director of Change 
Management, ICT and Regulatory services. The Housing and Environmental Enforcement 
Manager then reiterated these issues, adding that he believed there was a general trend in 
under-reporting which needed addressing, which had affected the Council as well as the 
Police; he stressed that the public should follow reporting procedures, where accessible, to 
ensure concerns were appropriately addressed.  
 
The Vice Chairman enquired about the use of police drones in Gainsborough; the Inspector 
responded that a drone unit was now established in Gainsborough, with a drone-trained 
operator on each response shift. He added that drones had been used to locate missing 
people, and to assist in policing anti-social behaviour; this was an asset to the local area, 
and it was being publicised on social media.    

Page 6



Overview and Scrutiny Committee-  15 October 2024 
 

5 
 

 
After no further questions, the Chairman thanked Inspector Head for his contribution at 
Committee, and for the excellent work being carried out by his team. The Chairman 
concluded that the overarching message was to encourage the reporting of crime.  
 
 
22 PROGRESS AND DELIVERY MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 
The Change, Programme and Performance Manager gave a short presentation to the 
Committee regarding the report. It was explained that the Progress and Delivery framework 
was under full review, with a cross-party Members’ group to be created. He highlighted the 
need for Members of the Committee to volunteer to join the group, and proposed that they 
met for a two-hour workshop at a date to be confirmed during November 2024. It was 
explained that the input from the Members’ group would inform the development of the 
Progress and Delivery Framework report, which was scheduled to be presented at the 
Corporate Policy and Resources Committee in January 2025.  
 
The Manager added that the proposed measure set was circulated to Members on 7 

October, with the engagement outcome to be included in the November workshop. 
 
Councillor S Bunney explained that the report was currently paper-based and released on a 
quarterly basis, however, he enquired whether the report could be digital, and accessible via 
a dashboard, to enable Members to be more frequently updated. The Manager responded 
by agreeing with the Member and confirmed that they were looking to roll out dashboards in 
the future to increase transparency and engagement.  
 
The Chairman asked the Committee for volunteers for the aforementioned cross-party 
Members’ group, with interest expressed by Chairman Cllr P Howitt-Cowan, Cllr M Snee, 
Cllr T Bridgewood, Cllr M Palmer, with Cllr Westley’s interest confirmed by the Chairman in 
her absence. 
 
With no further comments, and having been moved, seconded, and voted upon, it was 
 

RESOLVED that the creation of a cross-party Member working group to review the 
2026/28 Progress and Delivery framework and associated measures be approved. 

 
 
23 FORWARD PLAN 

 
With no comments, questions or requirement for a vote, the Forward Plan was NOTED. 
 
 
24 COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 

 
With no comments or questions, the Workplan was DULY NOTED. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 8.00 pm. 
 

Chairman 

Page 7



   

Overview and Scrutiny Matters Arising Schedule                                                             
 
Purpose: 
To consider progress on the matters arising from previous Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
 
Recommendation: That Members note progress on the matters arising and request corrective action if necessary. 
 
Matters Arising Schedule 
 

Status Title Action Required Comments Due Date Allocated To 

Green Initiate Invite to 

Future4Me to revisit 

Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee 

O&S 03/10/23: Committee supported a 

request for a return invitation be made to the 

Future4Me organisation 

Update 27/12/23: contact has been made, awaiting further 

response 

 

Update 06/02/24: response received, further discussion 

underway. 

 

Update 22/07/24: new request to be made based on aiding the 

understanding of the Committee with new membership since 

the previous presentation. Date extended accordingly.  

 

Update: invite re-initiated, to be pencilled in for January or 

February 2025.   

31/12/24 Ele Snow 

Green Update from the 

Health Scrutiny 

Committee 

Include updates from the Health Scrutiny 

Committee representative on future O&S 

agendas. 

O&S 20.02.24: The Chairman requested for updates to be 

received by the Committee. 

 

Update 22/07/24: To be discussed with the Health Scrutiny 

representative for future updates to be shared accordingly, 

dependent on meeting dates. Due date extended in order for 

dates to be confirmed. 

31/12/24 Ele Snow 

Green Battery Storage 

Legislation  

Item to be included on Overview & Scrutiny 

Workplan 

O&S 30.07.24: requested for a presentation item to the 

Committee regarding legislation and policy around battery 

storage sites, with potential lobbying of Government arising 

from that.  

30/11/24 Ele Snow 

 

P
age 8

A
genda Item

 4



 
 
 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Tuesday, 26 November 
2024  

 

     
Subject: Scrutiny of Progress and Delivery Quarter 2 2024/2025  

 

 
 
Report by: 
 

 
 
Director, Change Management and Regulatory 
Services 

 
Contact Officer: 
 

 
Claire Bailey  
Change, Projects and Performance Officer  
 
Claire.bailey@west-lindsey.gov.uk  
 

 
Purpose / Summary: 
 

 
To consider the responses arising from the 
Council’s policy committees with regards to 
quarter two of the Progress and Delivery 
reporting.   
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 
That the Committee examine the responses given to the report by the Prosperous 
Communities and the Corporate Policy and Resources Committees and assure 
themselves that the appropriate level of challenge is being made by those 
committees to the information contained in the report. 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:Claire.bailey@west-lindsey.gov.uk


 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are required to 

scrutinise the challenge of the two policy committees to the content of 
the council’s Progress and Delivery reports.  

 
1.2  To assist this scrutiny, a summary of the relevant minutes are provided 

to the Committee, as well as the full Progress and Delivery report.  
 
1.3  Minutes of the Prosperous Communities Committee, where the report 

was presented on 12 November 2024, are summarised at section two of 
this report, with the full minute attached at Appendix 1. 

 
1.4 Minutes of the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee, where the 

report was presented on 14 November 2024, are summarised at section 
three of this report, with the full minute attached at Appendix 2.   

 
1.5 The full Progress and Delivery report for quarter two of financial year 

2023-2024 are attached at Appendix 3, for information only.  
 
1.6 Members are asked to examine the responses given to the report by 

these two policy committees and assure themselves that the appropriate 
level of challenge is being made to the information contained in the 
report. 

 
 
2 Summary of Minutes – Prosperous Communities Committee 12 

November 2024 
 
2.1 Members suggested improvements for increased supporting 

information, for example regarding leisure centre feedback, Trinity 
Arts Centre, and fly-tipping. This was to avoid a purely data-based 
narrative being presented, which did not always cover the full story (for 
example, fly-tips on private land not being collected by the Council).  

 
2.2 It was enquired whether budget announcements would help with the 

percentage of nights in B&B accommodation. It was explained the 
details were still anticipated but the project which was now underway 
would help ease those pressures, especially out of the Gainsborough 
area. 

 
2.3 It was confirmed that a detailed update regarding food safety 

inspections would be presented to the Regulatory Committee in 
December, however Members were assured that additional training had 
taken place within the team and there was an action plan in place.  

 
2.4 Further marketing opportunities were discussed regarding the 

Gainsborough Markets with suggestions for interviews with traders or 
wider use of social media.  

 
 

Page 10



 

3 Summary of Minutes – Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
14 November 2024 

 
3.1 Members enquired about T24 savings: It was confirmed that non-

delivery of the indicated savings would not impact the overall budgets, 
however it was important to look for savings options where feasible. 

 
3.2 Discussion was had regarding collection rates: It was explained that 

the measure was now within tolerance, however was still monitored 
closely and would be reported on as needed 

 
 
4 Conclusion 
 
4.1 The Committee are asked to examine the responses given to the report 

by the Prosperous Communities and the Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committees and assure themselves that the appropriate 
level of challenge is being made by those committees to the information 
contained in the report. 

Page 11



Appendix 1 
Excerpt of Minutes Prosperous Communities Committee 12 November 2024 
 
 
The Committee heard from the Change, Projects and Performance Officer who 
presented the progress and delivery report setting out the performance across the 
council for quarter two, including the performance improvement plan, covering the 
period July to September 2024. Members were advised there had been one 
amendment to the report since papers had been published. This was following the 
agreement of the 2024/25 pay award for staff and meant that measure COF03 – 
Overall Council Budget Forecast Outturn had reduced to 0.87% with a forecast net 
underspend of £160k.  
 
In relation to the overall performance, it was explained that 81% of all measures were 
either exceeding or within agreed tolerance of their targets, compared to 83.7% 
measures in quarter one. The Officer highlighted the details contained within the 
performance improvement plan, explaining that the Council Tax Collection Rate and 
NNDR Collection Rate both reported within tolerance for quarter two and so had been 
removed from the performance improvement plan, although would continue to be 
closely monitored. New additions to the plan included the percentage of households 
spending more than 42 nights in B&B accommodation. The Committee heard it was 
expected to feature as the target was set at zero, in line with guidance and what the 
Council needed to strive to achieve. It was recognised that this was a challenging 
target, with the only temporary accommodation in Cross Street, but the Temporary 
Accommodation project was now in motion which would provide additional units, with 
two of these being out of the Gainsborough area.  
 
The percentage of food standards agency inspections completed was also a new 
addition to the performance improvement plan. This measure was one that Members 
had been informed of, as it was raised within the annual work plan in May. The 
Manager had provided an update for the performance improvement plan, however 
there was a mid-year report due at the Regulatory Committee in December, and so a 
more detailed update would be made following that report. Members were assured, 
however, that with increased capacity within the team, it was expected that inspection 
numbers would begin to increase over the next quarter. 
 
The final new addition to the plan was T24 savings delivered. It was explained this 
was an annual cumulative target, which was being monitored against the current 
position, and a position statement would be provided as part of the quarter three 
update. 
 
It was explained that there were two measures which remained in the Performance 
Improvement Plan. Those were: the Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) measures and 
Market Stalls. In relation to the DFGs, it was not expected that the performance of 
these measures would change given the budget position, the focus being on lobbying 
for fair distribution of funding, with this due to resuming following the elections in May 
2025. When looking at the data regarding the market stalls, it was noted that whilst 
Saturday market reported above target, this was due to the supporting event program 
and an additional four antique traders who had registered to continue trading on the 
Saturday Market. Therefore, whilst the measure was reporting above its target, it 

Page 12



remained in the performance improvement plan alongside the Tuesday market 
measure. Members were directed to page 51 of their papers for a full breakdown of all 
stalls per week and the dates on which the farmers markets were held in order to 
clarify the weeks which were impacted.  
 
Finally, Members were advised that, in relation to services held at the Lea Fields 
Crematorium, the measure that looked at the percentage of direct cremations had 
reported below target for two consecutive quarters. It was explained, however, that 
this reflected an improved position and could not be taken in isolation. For those 
reasons, it was proposed that for the 2025/26 measure set, all service types be 
included in line with the business plan targets. 
 
Members of the Committee were invited to comment. In relation to the leisure centre 
data, it was recognised that customer satisfaction levels were on the way up, however 
it was enquired as to whether the feedback from the ‘Meet the Manager’ sessions 
could be shared, as there were suggestions for improvements which would be useful 
to be aware of. Officers undertook to consider how this might t be shared or included 
in future reporting options. Similarly, it was requested that further information behind 
the data could be provided, for example in relation to fly-tipping collection rates where 
fly tips were on private land and therefore not collectable with the Council, or the 
upcoming pressures which would be faced by the Trinity Arts Centre.  
 
With regard to the percentage of households in bed and breakfast accommodation, it 
was enquired as to whether the recent budget announcements for homelessness 
prevention would have an impact on reducing that figure. It was explained that there 
was not yet any specific information regarding what those figures might be, however 
Officers would be working on options as soon as possible. A Member of the Committee 
requested clarification regarding suitability of placement and it was explained that 
individuals may be restricted as to where they could be homed, however the ongoing 
project would provide accommodation outside of Gainsborough.  
 
A Member of the Committee enquired about the feasibility of training extra staff to 
undertake food safety inspections, in light of the circumstances which had led to the 
backlog of inspections. It was confirmed that a member of the team had in fact recently 
completed training and moved into a qualified position. The update due to be 
presented to the Regulatory Committee in December would provide further details as 
to the contingency planning and action plan to bring inspection numbers back in line 
with where they should be. It was further enquired as to why the decision had been 
made to undertake the funeral parlour inspections as this had not been a mandatory 
requirement. Members were advised that, due to the recent local and national 
incidents which had been well-covered by the media, it had been a priority to be able 
to offer reassurance to members of the public and customers that such inspections 
were undertaken. It was not anticipated that this would be a recurrent inspection 
regime.  
 
In response to an enquiry regarding the market stalls and market traders, whether 
continued growth was being driven by approaching new traders or encouraging new 
traders to return, it was confirmed that Officers were spending time at markets in other 
areas, seeking to encourage new traders to the Gainsborough Markets. It was 
suggested that more could be done in terms of marketing, for example interviews with 

Page 13



traders, wider-spread social media marketing rather than only the West Lindsey 
pages.  
 
The Chairman thanked Members for their comments and, having been proposed and 
seconded, took the vote. It was  
 

RESOLVED that the performance of the Council’s services had been assessed 
through agreed performance measures and areas where improvements should 
be made, having regard to the remedial measures set out in the report, had 
been indicated. 

 

Page 14



Appendix 2 
Excerpt of Minutes Corporate Policy & Resources Committee 14 November 
2024 
 
 
The Committee heard from the Change, Projects and Performance Officer regarding 
the progress and delivery report, which set out the performance across the Council for 
quarter two 2024/2025, and included the performance improvement plan, covering the 
period from July to September. It was explained that 81% of all measures were either 
exceeding or within agreed tolerance of their targets, compared to 83.7% measures in 
quarter one.  
 
The Officer highlighted the details contained within the performance improvement 
plan, explaining that the Council Tax Collection Rate and NNDR Collection Rate both 
reported within tolerance for quarter two and so had been removed from the 
performance improvement plan, although would continue to be closely monitored. New 
additions to the plan included the percentage of households spending more than 42 
nights in B&B accommodation. The Committee heard it was expected to feature as 
the target was set at zero, in line with guidance and what the Council needed to strive 
to achieve. It was recognised that this was a challenging target, with the only 
temporary accommodation in Cross Street, but the Temporary Accommodation project 
was now in motion which would provide additional units, with two of these being out of 
the Gainsborough area.  
 
The percentage of food standards agency inspections completed was also a new 
addition to the performance improvement plan. This measure was one that Members 
had been informed of, as it was raised within the annual work plan in May. The 
Manager had provided an update for the performance improvement plan, however 
there was a mid-year report due at the Regulatory Committee in December, and so a 
more detailed update would be made following that report. Members were assured, 
however, that with increased capacity within the team, it was expected that inspection 
numbers would begin to increase over the next quarter. 
 
The final new addition to the plan was T24 savings delivered. It was explained this 
was an annual cumulative target, which was being monitored against the current 
position, and a position statement would be provided as part of the quarter three 
update. 
 
It was explained that there were two measures which remained in the Performance 
Improvement Plan. Those were: the Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) measures and 
Market Stalls. In relation to the DFGs, it was not expected that the performance of 
these measures would change given the budget position, the focus being on lobbying 
for fair distribution of funding, with this due to resuming following the elections in May 
2025. When looking at the data regarding the market stalls, it was noted that whilst 
Saturday market reported above target, this was due to the supporting event program 
and an additional four antique traders who had registered to continue trading on the 
Saturday Market. Therefore, whilst the measure was reporting above its target, it 
remained in the performance improvement plan alongside the Tuesday market 
measure. Members were directed to page 51 of their papers for a full breakdown of all 

Page 15



stalls per week and the dates on which the farmers markets were held in order to 
clarify the weeks which were impacted.  
 
Finally, Members were advised that, in relation to services held at the Lea Fields 
Crematorium, the measure that looked at the percentage of direct cremations had 
reported below target for two consecutive quarters. It was explained, however, that 
this reflected an improved position and could not be taken in isolation. For those 
reasons, it was proposed that for the 2025/26 measure set, all service types be 
included in line with the business plan targets. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Officer for her clear summary of the report and invited 
comments from Members. With relation to the T24 savings, it was enquired whether 
the savings were all located within the ‘Corporate Health’ section, to which Members 
heard that whilst the measure sat under Corporate Health, the savings had been 
across the organisation. It was confirmed that non-delivery of the indicated savings 
would not impact the overall budgets, however it was important to look for savings 
options where feasible.  
 
A Member of the Committee voiced his concern that the collection rates had been 
removed from the performance improvement plan, enquiring whether it was in fact an 
issue that was likely to worsen over time. It was explained that the measure was still 
monitored closely and would be reported on as needed.  
 
With no further comments or questions, and having been proposed, seconded, and 
voted upon, it was  
 

RESOLVED that the performance of the Council’s services had been assessed 
through agreed performance measures and areas where improvements should 
be made, having regard to the remedial measures set out in the report, had 
been indicated.  

 

Page 16



 

 

 

Progress and Delivery 

Report 

Quarter Two 2024/25 
July - September 

 

 

  

Page 17



 
Executive Summary 

 
The quarter two Progress and Delivery report covers the period from July to September 2024. The performance 

information presented in this report is grouped by portfolio and based on the measures and targets approved by Corporate 

Policy and Resources Committee in January 2024. 

Each section of the report begins with an overall summary of portfolio performance, including measures which have been 

above or below target for at least two consecutive quarters. This is followed by a performance summary for each service 

within that portfolio. Performance is reported by exception (above or below target) and a narrative for each service is 

included to provide additional context. 

Following on from the roll out in quarter two 2022/23, the Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) features in this report, 

this is a key part of the report where we highlight those measures which report below target for two of more consecutive 

periods.  

Looking ahead… 

Work is in progress to review the Progress and Delivery measure sets, with the aim to make recommendations for 

2025/26 performance framework. As part of the review, Overview and Scrutiny Committee have approved the formation 

of a time limited member working group, the objective of this group will be to meet and review the recommended 

measures and targets in preparation for 2025/26. Following the review, the proposed measures and targets will be 

presented to the members of Corporate, Policy and Resources Committee for approval in February 2025. 

The team is also working to enhance visibility regarding alignment with the Corporate Plan, its themes, aims, and 

objectives. The performance management system has been updated to capture this information, and the next steps will 

involve integrating it into the reporting function. 

For further information or to discuss the report further please contact either: 

Darren Mellors  

Change, Programme and Performance Manager 

darren.mellors@west-lindsey.gov.uk 

Claire Bailey 

Change, Projects, and Performance Officer 

clare.bailey@west-lindsey.gov.uk  

  

Page 18

mailto:darren.mellors@west-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bailey@west-lindsey.gov.uk


 

This report includes the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) set for 2024/25 where progress is assessed against agreed 

targets. Progress against targets is assessed by RAG (Red/Amber/Green) ratings. Progress is also assessed in terms 

of direction of travel (DoT) using arrows. 

DoT arrows are used to indicate the direction of change for KPIs over time. This provides a visual display to show 

whether performance has improved/declined/remained the same when compared to the corresponding quarter. 

DoT   

↑ Performance improving 

↓ Fall in Performance 

→ No change 

RAG  

 Measure exceeding approved target 

 Measures within approved tolerances 

 Measure below target  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key to KPI Ratings Used 

Page 19



 
Overall Summary of Council Performance 

 

Table 1. identifies a total of 54 KPIs with associated 

targets, broken down by portfolio, these are measured 

quarterly and included within this report. Graph 1. 

shows the percentages based on the figures in table 1. 

42 KPIs (excluding the 12 Corporate Health KPIs) which 

sit within the four portfolios are monitored over 

consecutive periods within the report and are 

highlighted when they are either above or below target 

for two consecutive quarters. 

 

Quarter two reports a total of 28 out of the 42 KPIs 

exceeding target for two consecutive quarters of more. Of the 42, six KPIs report below target for at least two 

consecutive quarters, this milestone initiates the development of a Performance Improvement Plan.   

  

Portfolio 
No of 
KPIs 

KPIs 
exceeding 

target 

KPIs 
within 

tolerance 

KPIs 
below 
target 

Corporate Health 12 9 0 3 

Change Management, ICT and Regulatory Services 18 14 3 1 

Corporate Services 1 1 0 0 

Operational and Commercial Services 12 8 2 2 

Planning, Regeneration and Communities 11 7 0 4 

Total 54 39 5 10 

Table 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



 
Corporate Health 

 
 

COF03 – The forecast net underspend for the half year is reported at (£663k). This is before the anticipated pay award 
for 2024/25. If the latest employer offer is accepted, the forecasted underspend decreases to £160k. 

To provide some detail behind the above number, there is an anticipated underspend of £99k on fuel and £30k on 
utilities. Additionally, net interest receivable is projected to be £270k above target, along with a windfall government 
grant of £34k. These positives are offset by potential pressures, which include a £120k shortfall in Housing Benefits 
Subsidy and forecast income pressures of £59k on Commercial Waste, £23k on local land charges fees, and £36k on 
building control. 

COF06/07 – Together 24 is the Council's transformational project launched in August 2020. The programme has been 
jointly delivered by Change Management, System Development and service areas, by conducting detailed, service and 
process reviews. These reviews aim to redesign and improve services, delivering better outcomes for customers and 
officers through increased efficiency. A total 15 service reviews have been completed under the Together 24 
programme, identifying savings of £370,750. No further reviews are planned whilst the Council's Project Management 
Office work to realise these savings. By the end of quarter two the position remains the same as reported in at quarter 
one, £94,600 in savings have been realised. 

The program is set to conclude in December 2024, and efforts are in progress to identify and implement the identified 

savings. This work is progressing through the council's Project Management framework and associated programme 

boards. A position statement will be included in the Q3 P&D report to provide greater context. As T24 approaches its 

conclusion, work is underway to scope the council's approach for continuous improvement, supported by the P&D 

framework. This information will be presented to members once it is finalised (expected Q4 2024/25). 

CUS06-09 – These are a new suite of customer service measures for 2024/25, these measures were approved as 

Members were keen to see an overview of all incoming demand on our customer services team. 

CUS06 – During the second quarter, West Lindsey services recorded a total of 2,265 face-to-face requests, while all 

services combined accounted for 11,804 interactions. In addition to those served for West Lindsey, Customer Service 

Officers also assisted customers from Jobcentre Plus, Lincolnshire County Council, Citizens Advice, and Voluntary 

Centre Services. Their support included registering customers for appointments, helping them access various services, 

requesting assistance on behalf of customers (such as travel warrants), and monitoring customer behavior in the 

reception area. 

CUS07/08 - During Quarter two, the Council's Customer Service Advisors received 9,923 calls, answering 8,771 of 

them, resulting in an answer rate of 89%. The average abandonment rate was 11%, translating to 1,152 calls - an 

improvement from quarter one, where abandonment rate reported at 17%. 

CUS09 – During the quarter, online requests accounted for 23% of all contacts received by our Customer Contact Centre. 

These online demands refer to customers who opted to complete forms on the Council website instead of reaching out 

via face-to-face interactions, phone calls, emails, or via post. In total, customers completed 6,961 online forms during 

quarter two. 

GLC03 – The percentage of FOIs completed within 20 working days fell below target in quarter two, at 91%. This shortfall 

is attributed to seven EIRs from the same climate action group. These had to be processed as separate requests and 

although all responses were provided simultaneously, they were submitted past the deadline. 

HUM01 – The target for sickness absence is 0.6 average days per full time employee per month. In July, the rate was 

0.97, followed by 0.79 in August and 0.7 in September, demonstrating performance has improved month on month. The 

decrease in sickness absence cases is attributed to employees returning to work after long-term illness. HR will continue 

to monitor sickness levels monthly and undertake a proactive approach as needed. 

 Page 21



KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT  

COF02 - % of invoices paid within 30 days of 
receipt of the invoice 

99% 97% 99%  → 

COF03 - Overall Council budget forecast outturn -1.83% 0% -3.72%  ↑ 

COF06 - Value of savings identified from the 
Together 24 programme 

N/A £300k £370,750  - 

COF07 - Value of savings delivered from the 
Together 24 programme 

N/A £300k £94,600  - 

CUS01 - Overall customer satisfaction 81% 75% 85%  ↑ 

CUS02 – Compliments received 306 N/A 394 - - 

CUS03 – Complaints received 48 N/A 39 - - 

CUS04 - % of complaints where the Council is at 
fault 

29% 40% 17%  ↑ 

CUS05 - Average number of calendar days taken 
to resolve a complaint 

6 14 days 7  ↓ 

CUS06 - Volume of face-to-face demands 
received into the Customer Contact Centre 

1,482 N/A 2,265 - - 

CUS07 - Volume of telephone demands received 
into the Customer Contact Centre 

9,670 N/A 9,923 - - 

CUS08 - % of abandoned calls 8% N/A 11% - - 

CUS09 - % of on-line demands received N/A N/A 23% - - 

GLC01 - Number of data breaches resulting in 
action from the Information Commissioners Office 

0 0 0  → 

GLC02 – Number of FOI requests received 188 N/A 158 - - 

GLC03 - % of FOIs completed within 20 working 
days 

87% 97% 91%  ↑ 

GLC04 - Number of FOI challenges upheld 0 0 0  → 

HUM01 – Staff absenteeism (average days per 
month FTE) 

0.66 days 0.60 days 0.82 days  ↓ 

HUM03 – Health & Safety incidents 17 N/A 5 - ↓ 

ICT05 - Server and system availability 100% 98% 100%  → 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 
Performance Improvement Plan 

 
 

The Performance Improvement Plan forms part of the Progress and Delivery framework here at West Lindsey and 

supports the on-going maturity of performance management at West Lindsey District Council. The plan includes 

measures where performance has remained below target for two consecutive quarters or more.  

Additional information will be provided as to the reasons relating to the measure reporting below target, the impact this 

has, the actions in place to improve performance and when we expect to see the improvement following the action.  

The Plan adds further context and provides the extra level of assurance Members are seeking and have requested as to 

why P&D measures within services are reporting as underperforming. 

The table overleaf shows a summary of improvement actions identified with associated Team Managers and 

Management Team. A more detailed plan is managed at service level with oversight by the senior management team 

including clear linkages to the objectives of both teams and individuals.   

The plan will be monitored by the Council’s Change, Project and Performance Officer and the relevant Team Manager 

with the quarterly P&D report used to update members on progress.  

 

Performance Improvement Plan update: 

Following on from quarter one, quarter two reports Council Tax and NNDR in year collection rates (LOT03 and LOT05) 

within the approved tolerance of their targets, therefor these measures have been removed from the Performance 

Improvement Plan for quarter two. Whilst these measures have seen improvement in performance, they will continue to 

be closely monitored and reported through the Progress and Delivery report. 

Average number of Saturday market stalls (MKT02) has also been removed from the quarter two performance 

improvement plan, this due to the measure continuing to report above target due to a supportive event program and four 

antique traders, registered to continue trading on the Saturday Market.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 
 

Performance Improvement Plan 

Portfolio / 
Service 

Measure Reason Impact 
Actions – what can we 
do to improve? 

When will we 
see an 
improvement? 

Homes and 
Communities 

HHW01 - The 
average 
number of 
working days 
from DFG 
application to 
completion of 
work 

•The DFG service receives an annual 
budget for the delivery of works 
through the scheme however this 
budget is not sufficient to deliver all the 
works applied for through the scheme.  

•WLDC currently receives the second 
highest number of referrals for 
adaptation across Lincolnshire but 
receives the second lowest amount of 
funding to cover this demand.  

•Legislation states that councils have 
six months to determine from when an 
application is complete to when it 
receives financial approval. To help 
manage the budget, WLDC have 
reverted service delivery to align with 
this legislation. 

•Delay in delivery 
of adaptations 

•The continued efforts to 
review the budget position 
and lobbying around the 
fair distribution of funding 
for DFGs has continued 
following the elections. 

•A letter has been 
prepared to address 
concerns regarding 
national policy, and 
Lincolnshire County 
Council has agreed to 
collaborate with us on this 
lobbying effort. 

• Explore other ways of 
saving money to try and 
relieve the budget where 
possible. 

•Until the 
budget position 
is rectified, the 
time taken to 
complete 
adaptations will 
continue to 
take longer 
than 120 
working days. 

HHW02 - % of 
DFG referrals 
completed 
within 120 
working days 

HME07 – % of 
households 
spending more 
than 42 nights 
in B&B 
accommodation 

• Due to the unsuitability of temporary 
accommodation in Gainsborough for 
some cases. 

• Since the only temporary 
accommodation is located in the town, 
if someone cannot be accommodated 
in Gainsborough, the only alternative is 
to use B&B accommodation. 

•The Homelessness Code of Guidance 
details it is not acceptable for anyone 
to spend more than 42 nights in B&B 
accommodation. For this reason, the 
target for this measure was set at zero. 

•Increased use of 
B&B 
accommodation. 

•B&B 
accommodation 
is only considered 
suitable for short 
term use, due to 
the lack of 
amenities. 

•Financial impact 
to the Council for 
the use of B&B 
accommodation. 

•The temporary 
accommodation project is 
underway to ensure the 
Council are delivering 
within the code of 
guidance to have this 
measure at zero. The 
project is due to be 
delivered by Sept 2025. 

•End of 
financial year 
2025/2026 

 

Change 
Management, 
ICT and 

FDS01 - % of 
Food Standard 
Agency 

•The target number of inspections 
increased from 228 in 2023/24 to 367 
in 2024/25.  

•Requirements 
set out in the 
Food and Health 
and Safety Work 

•Increased staffing 
capacity to complete 
inspections 

•Inspection 
numbers 
expected to 

P
age 24



Portfolio / 
Service 

Measure Reason Impact 
Actions – what can we 
do to improve? 

When will we 
see an 
improvement? 

Regulatory 
Services 

inspections 
completed 

•Despite planning mitigations to 

manage the increased workload, two 

instances of unexpected long-term 

staff illness of experienced officers 

within the team occurred during the 

first and second quarters. This has 

added extra pressure on the work 

area. 

• Inspections of all funeral parlours and 
crematorium in West Lindsey on behalf 
of the Government. A total of nine 
inspections, while these inspections 
were not mandatory, they were 
prioritised due to the potential risks 
involved, taking precedence over food 
hygiene inspections. Each inspection 
lasted around 6.5 hours and generally 
required the presence of two officers. 

Plan 2024/2025 
are not met. 

•Maintaining Food 
Hygiene 
Inspection 
Requirements – 
the ability to 
deliver statutory 
obligations. 

•An additional FTE will be 
allocated for an initial six-
month period. 

•Existing agency 0.1 FTE 
contract to be extended 
until the end of March 25 
to cover evening and out 
of hours inspections.  

•Full mid-year report 
scheduled for 
Management Team in 
November 24 and 
Regulatory Committee in 
December 24 

•Annual work plan 
highlighted in May 24 that 
this issue was recognised 
and planned for. 

increase from 
November 24. 

•Further 
updates to be 
included in Q3, 
following the 
standard mid-
year report to 
Management 
Team and 
Regulatory 
Committee in 
November and 
December 
respectively. 

 

Operational 
and 
Commercial 
Services / 
Markets 

MKT01 - 
Average 
number of 
market stalls on 
a Tuesday 

•Reduced number of stalls - lack of 
town centre offering in terms of shops 
and change in habits. 

•Potential loss of 
historic market in 
the town. 

•Officers and members 
are collaborating on the 
future of Gainsborough 
market. There is a clear 
shared vision for the 
traditional market to be 
part of a revitalised 
‘independent quarter’ at 
the heart of the town. •The 
LUF cinema and leisure 
scheme, townscape 
heritage investments and 
public realm 
improvements will serve 
as both a footfall driver 
and back drop for a 
regenerated town centre. 

•Refurbished market 
stalls, a coherent brand 
and marketing plan, the 
personal touch for our 
traders and businesses 
and our quality street 

•Medium term 
change 
expected with 
opening of 
cinema and 
leisure scheme 
in summer 
2025. 

P
age 25



Portfolio / 
Service 

Measure Reason Impact 
Actions – what can we 
do to improve? 

When will we 
see an 
improvement? 

cleansing and CCTV offer 
will ensure we deliver a 
place that feels safe and 
inviting.  

•Short term ongoing action 
to focus trader retention, 
sustainment and 
satisfaction to be coupled 
with a refresh of marketing 
materials and 
communication plan and 
ongoing delivery of footfall 
driving events. 

Corporate 
Health 

COF07 - T24 
savings 
delivered 

Savings in the region of £370k have 
been identified as part of the 
programme. £94,600 has been 
realised and work is underway to 
deliver the remaining savings. 

Financial impact 
of the non-
delivery of 
savings. 

Position statement to be 
provided as part of the Q3 
update. 

Annual 
cumulative 
target, which is 
being 
monitored 
against the 
current 
position. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 26



 
Change Management, ICT and Regulatory Services 

Performance Summary 
 

 

Services Included: 

 Benefits 

 Council Tax & NNDR 

 Environmental Protection 

 Food Safety 

 Housing and Planning Enforcement 

 ICT 

 Local Land Charges 

 Licensing 

 Systems Development 
 

 

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI Q1 
(2024/25) 

Target 
Q2 

(2024/25) 
Perf 

BEN01 - End to end processing times 4 days 7 days 5 days  

BEN02 - Claims older than 50 calendar days 5 6 2  

ENV02 - % of environmental protection cases closed within 6 
months 

100% 75% 100%  

FDS02 - % of registered food premises rated 3 stars or above 98% 96% 98%  

ENF02 - % Planning enforcement cases given an initial 
response within 20 days 

100% 90% 100%  

ENF03 - % of planning enforcement cases closed within 6 
months 

82% 75% 88%  

ENF05 - % of housing enforcement cases closed within 6 
months 

85% 75% 84%  

ICT04 - % of low priority ICT helpdesk calls closed within 48 
working days 

100% 90% 100%  

LLC03 - Average number of working days taken to process a 
search 

1 day 10 days 2 days  

LIC01 - % of licensing applications processed within target 
time 

100% 96% 100%  

SYS01 - Website availability 99.95% 99% 100%  

SYS03 - % of systems development requests completed within 
10 working days 

98.33% 85% 100%  

 

 

Page 27



 

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI Q1 (2024/25) Target 
Q2 

(2024/25) 
Perf 

FDS01 - % of Food Standard Agency Inspections 
Completed **Included in PIP** 

20% (target 
22.5% in Q1) 

45% 32%  

Benefits 

BEN01/02 - Quarter two reports a steadier flow of work from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and 

customers. There was a decrease in changes of circumstance received, with 5,810 in quarter two compared to 

8,638 in quarter one. However, new claims saw an increase from 327 in quarter one to 453 in quarter two. 

Performance remains strong with processing times for both changes of circumstance and new claims under target, 

with an average end-to-end processing time of five days. The number of claims older than 50 calendar days also 

reports below target, with an average of two claims. At the end of the quarter, only one claim remained outstanding 

beyond 50 calendar days. 

As at the end of quarter two 350 working age Housing Benefit households had migrated from legacy benefits to 

Universal Credit under the DWP managed migration programme.  

The team received formal recognition for their performance by way of a letter from DWP, noting that on review of the 

past 12 months of data; for speed of processing statistics have been consistently healthy, completed close to or over 

100% of funded activities and for Housing Benefit Debt Recovery (HBDR), and continued focus on HBDR despite 

being a difficult area of work due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent cost of living crisis.  

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

BEN01 - End to end processing times 4 days 7 days 5 days  ↓ 

BEN02 - Claims older than 50 calendar days 2 6 2  N/A 

Environmental Protection 
ENV01 – Quarter two is typically the busiest time of the year for the team, as the longer and brighter days tend to 

increase activities related to nuisance issues. However, the number of requests received showed only a slight 

increase compared to quarter one, rising from 149 to 156 requests.  

ENV02 - The team continue to maintain efficiency, effectively managing all investigated cases and ensuring they are 

closed in a timely manner, with 100% of all cases closed within six months. 

The work area also continues to effectively execute its obligations in relation to contaminated land, private water 

supplies and are continuing to progress the project internally which will result in the team being moved on to the 

Council's CRM system. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

ENV01 – Number of environmental protection 
requests received 

204 N/A 156 - - 

ENV02 - % of environmental protection cases 
closed within 6 months 

100% 75% 100%  → 

Page 28



Food Safety 
FDS01/02 – As performance for percentage of Food Standard Agency (FSA) inspections completed has remained 

below target for two consecutive quarters, this measure features within the performance improvement plan. 

At the end of quarter two, 32% (120) of the required 376 food hygiene inspections, as set out by the FSA, had been 

completed. While the team is required to conduct 376 inspections for the 2024/25 period, the total number of 

inspections, including reactive work, is expected to range between 451 and 489. 

The current position has been exacerbated by two incidents of long-term staff sickness within the team, which were 

not predictable and have both occurred across quarter one and two. 

Additionally, the team was assigned to conduct inspections of all funeral parlours in West Lindsey on behalf of the 

Government, completing a total of nine inspections, with all premises found to be operating effectively. While these 

inspections were not mandatory, they were prioritised over food hygiene inspections, due to the risks highlighted by 

the national coverage. Each inspection lasted around 6.5 hours and generally required the presence of two officers. 

The challenge in relation to inspections numbers this year has been documented previously and Councillors are 

aware of this. An update report outlining the current and predicted position is due to be received at Regulatory 

Committee in December 2024.  

To address the expected shortfall, a contingency budget, initially made available 2022/23, is set to be utilised. This 

contingency will provide resource, planned for an initial six-month period starting in November 2024. This will help 

manage the target inspections for 2024/25, with any remaining backlog to be addressed as the team transitions into 

2025/26. 

The December Committee report will provide a further update on inspection numbers. With the contingency plan in 

place, an increase in completed inspections is expected. Despite these challenges, reassurance can be taken from 

the fact that a high percentage of premises across the district continue to score 3* or above on their inspections. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

FDS01 - % of Food Standard Agency 
inspections completed **Included in PIP** 

49% 45% 32%  ↓ 

FDS02 - % of registered food premises 
rated 3 stars or above 

98% 96% 98%  → 

  

Page 29



Housing and Planning Enforcement 
ENF01/02/03 – A decrease in planning enforcement requests was reported in quarter two, with 39 requests received 
compared to 74 in the same period of 2023/24. All cases received in quarter two received a response within 20 
working days, and 88% of cases were closed within six months. 

ENF04/05 - A reduction in housing enforcement cases was reported in quarter two, which is consistent with previous 

years, as complaints typically decrease during the warmer months. However, these cases are expected to rise as 

colder weather exacerbates issues like damp, mould, and excess cold.  

Following the Council's success in securing funds from the Government, the Healthy Homes Project is now underway, 

focusing on initiatives for reporting and treating damp and mould in the Private Rented Sector. The project has 

increased the team's capacity to tackle these issues, with proactive inspections and communication strategies, 

including cross county, being developed in preparation for the winter months. 

ENF9/10/11 - In the Community Safety work area, vacancies and role changes have resulted in an incomplete staff 

cohort throughout the period. Despite this, a wide range of multi-agency initiatives continue to be implemented, and 

various cases have been resolved and investigated through collaboration with key partners such as the police. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

ENF01 – Number of planning enforcement 
requests received 

74 N/A 39 - - 

ENF02 - % of planning enforcement cases given 
an initial response within 20 working days 

100% 90% 100%  → 

ENF03 - % of planning enforcement cases 
closed within 6 months 

91% 75% 88%  ↓ 

ENF04 – Number of housing enforcement 
requests received 

31 N/A 23 - - 

ENF05 - % of housing enforcement cases 
closed within 6 months 

88% 75% 84%  ↓ 

ENF09 – Number of new community safety 
complaints 

164 
N/A 

96 - - 

ENF010 – Number of community safety cases 
closed following intervention 

96 
N/A 

92 - - 

ENF11 – Number of community safety 
complaints that result in formal action 

127 
N/A 

117 - - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Street Cleaning/Enforcement – Fly Tipping 
ENF07/08 – ENF08 is a new measure introduced for 2024/25 to provide additional context on the Council's ongoing 

efforts to address fly-tipping. Fly-tip reporting involve two teams: Waste Services - Street Cleansing and Enforcement. 

Initially, the Street Cleansing team receives the reports to ensure prompt clearance of incidents. If evidence identifying 

the culprit is found, it is passed on to the Enforcement team for further investigation and the issuance of fixed penalty 

notices (FPN) when appropriate. 

ENF07 - In quarter two, a total of 31 fly-tipping incidents were attended for investigation, up from 18 in quarter one. A 

review and change to the internal processes for determining which fly-tipping incidents require further investigation 

has resulted in immediate success, leading to an increased number of cases being investigated. While no FPNs were 

issued in August and September, six investigations from those months are still ongoing. Additionally, Councillors will 

be considering a report on potential changes to FPN amounts, which, if approved, aim to increase the number of FPNs 

issued for offences such as littering.  

A total of 393 instances of fly-tipping were reported in quarter two, with 349 collected and disposed of within ten 

working days, achieving 89%, which meets the approved tolerance for this measure. The number of reported incidents 

has increased again, with 393 cases in quarter two, compared to 356 in quarter one and 292 during the same period 

last year, representing a 34.5% rise. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

ENF08 – Number of Fixed Penalty Notices 
(FPN) issued for fly tipping offences 

4 N/A 6 - - 

ENF07 – Number of fly-tipping cases attended 
for investigation 

52 N/A 31 - - 

Counts of fly-tipping by waste / incident size 

Single item 28 N/A 113 - ↓ 

Car boot load or less 78 N/A 70 - ↑ 

Small van / transit van load 160 N/A 185 - ↓ 

Tipper lorry load / significant or multiple loads 26 N/A 25 - ↑ 

Total  292 N/A 393   

 

ICT Infrastructure 
The ServiceDesk recorded 366 requests during quarter one with a total of 366 closed within their target time, a decrease 
in requests when compared to quarter one where a total of 494 was received by the team. All calls received were 
categorised as low priority with no high or medium requests received during quarter two.  

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

ICT02 - % of high priority ICT helpdesk calls 
closed within 24 working hours 

No high priority 
calls received 

95% 
No high 

priority calls 
received 

 → 

ICT03 - % of medium priority ICT helpdesk calls 
closed within 74 working hours 

No medium 
priority calls 

received 
90% 

No medium 
priority calls 

received 
 → 

ICT04 - % of low priority ICT helpdesk calls 
closed within 48 working days 

100% 90% 100%  → 

Page 31



Land Charges 
The team experienced an increase in searches during Quarter Two, receiving 741 compared to 540 in the same 

quarter last year, resulting in an increase of 201. This rise in applications has generated additional income, with 

quarter two reporting £37,921, up from £17,096 in quarter two 2023/24. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

LLC01 – Number of Local Land Charge 
searches received 

540 N/A 741 - - 

LLC03 - Average number of working days taken 
to process a search 

2 days 10 days 2 days  → 

LLC05 – Income Received £17,096 N/A £37,921 - - 

Licensing 
The licensing service continues to process applications on time and in line with legislative requirements. There 

remains a consistent and steady number of licensing applications each month and in line with the previous year’s 

demand.  

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

LIC01 - % of licensing applications processed 
within target time 

100% 96% 100%  → 

 

Council Tax and NNDR 
Council Tax recovery action continued into quarter two, with a total of 6,312 reminder notices issued, reflecting an 

increase of 322 compared to the same quarter last year. Similarly, the number of summonses issued rose to 3,459 in 

quarter two, an increase of 563 compared to quarter two of 2023/24. During this quarter, an additional 155 liability 

orders were granted, bringing the total to 1,945. Overall, there was an increase of 1,000 in outgoing debt recovery 

notices, not including the subsequent court recovery actions that follow the issuance of liability orders. 

LOT02/03 - Council tax collection rate (%) reports within the approved tolerance of the target for quarter two, with 

collection rate below target by 0.33%, which is supported by the increase in number of recovery notices issued. The 

amount of council tax due to be collected for 2024/25 is £73.4 million, an increase of £4.5 million more than in 

2023/24, and the actual amount of council tax collected so far this year is £2.3 million more than for the same period 

last year. 

As a way of benchmarking, collection rates are gathered monthly from the Lincolnshire District Authorities. In quarter 

two, one district reported no change in its council tax collection rate compared to last year. Another district reported 

an increase of 0.64%, but this rate remains 2.1% below the current collection rate of WLDC. The remaining districts 

experienced a decline in their collection rates from last year, with reductions ranging from 0.12% to 0.36%. 

There has been a number of proactive actions in place to support residents in paying their Council Tax. To date, 

9,631 telephone calls and 12,592 emails have been received and answered by the team. Customer communications 

continued to be updated with changes to drive action to support payments and encourage contact from those 

residents struggling to pay. 

Page 32



Training in effective debt recovery techniques is planned for staff over quarter three, this will focus on obtaining 

payment whilst, at the same time, ensuring customers are supported sufficiently to ensure they are able to pay their 

ongoing commitments and therefore attempting to break the cycle of non-payment. 

LOT05 - National Non-Domestic Rates reports within the approved tolerance of the target for quarter two, reporting at 

a reduction of 1.32% compared to the previous year’s collection rate. This year’s rate has been impacted by 5 

properties brought into the valuation list backdated into 2023. Some instalment dates started in September, whilst 

others do not start until October. All of these properties’ debt has been backdated and spread over the remainder of 

the year, with installments over the next six or seven months.  

As reported in quarter one, significant accounts are choosing to pay monthly rather than as one payment during the 

year, whilst this does not affect the year end collection rate it does impact on quarterly figures. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

LOT01 - Number of properties on the Council 
Tax Valuation List. 

N/A N/A 46,553 - - 

LOT02 – Amount of Council Tax collected £18,390,915 N/A £19,594,359 - - 

LOT04 – Amount of National Non-Domestic 
Rates collected 

£4,732,726 N/A £5,280,185 - - 

LOT06 - Number of businesses on the Non-
Domestic Rating list 

N/A N/A 3,050 - - 

 

Systems Development 
SYS01 - Continued monitoring to ensure availability and no broken links to guarantee the standard is maintained. 

SYS02 - Automated allocation of requests to the correct officer ensures no delays in work being reviewed and work 

completed in a timely manner. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

SYS01 - Website availability 99.99% 99% 99.99%  → 

SYS02 - % of systems development requests 
completed within 10 working days 

99% 85% 99.7%  ↑ 

 

 

  

Page 33



 
Corporate Services  

Performance Summary 
 

 

Services Included: 

 Property Services 
 

 

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI 
Q1 

(2024/25) 
Target 

Q2 
(2024/25) 

Perf 

PRO03 - Rental portfolio voids 3% 12% 5%  
 

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters 
There are no measures within this portfolio that have performed below target for two consecutive quarters. 

 

  

Page 34



Property Services 
PRO03 – The rental portfolio voids for quarter two stand at 5%. At the end of the quarter, there are four reported 

rental voids: two units within the Plough offices, one unit in the town center, and one additional property. The team 

continues to collaborate with our internal Communications Team to support the marketing process. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

PRO03 - Rental portfolio voids 3% 12% 5%  ↓ 

Democratic Services 
DEM01 –The figures provided for quarter two include all Council and Committee meetings, the associated Chairs’ 

Briefings, ‘single item’ briefings, regarding matters such as the budget or NPPF consultation, as well as Member 

Development sessions, such as Planning Topical Matters.  

In July, the total was lower than usual due to a decrease in workshops linked to the reduction of RAF Scampton-

related activities. Additionally, some meetings (committees and briefings) were cancelled because of the General 

Election held in the first week of July. 

August featured fewer meetings; however, as the committee cycle commenced for September, associated Chairs’ 

Briefings were held. Out of the eight sessions in August 2024, two were committees (Planning and Chief Officer 

Employment Committee), five were briefings, and one was a working group meeting. 

As expected, September marked a return to regular operations, with eight Committee meetings, five Chairs’ Briefings, 

three All Member Briefings, one Member Development session, and one working group meeting taking place. Forward 

planning was the focus during September 2024, with all Member Briefings focused on the budget and upcoming work 

streams due at the policy committees. The Planning Topical Matters series continued for Member Development, with 

more sessions scheduled in the near future. 

Performance Exceptions 

Statistic Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

DEM01 - Number of committee meetings, 
briefings, workshops, and training events 
supported by Democratic Services. 

N/A N/A 35 - - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 
Planning, Regeneration and Communities  

Performance Summary 
 

 

Services Included: 
 

 Planning 

 Home Choices 

 Homes, Health and Wellbeing 

 Communities 
 

 

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI 
Q1 

(2024/25) 
Target 

Q2 
(2024/25) 

Perf 

HME02 - % of homelessness approaches with positive 
outcomes 

76% 75% 81%  

HME04 – % utilisation of temporary leased accommodation 78% 75% 83%  

HME05 - % of households spending more than 56 nights in 
leased accommodation 

9% 40% 20%  

HHW04 - Long term empty properties as a percentage of all 
housing stock in the district 

1.5% 2% 1.4%  

DEV04 - % of non-major planning applications determined 
within 8 weeks or within agreed timescales 

97% 94% 96%  

DEV05 - % of major development applications, allowed on 
appeal 

0% 8% 0%  

DEV06 - % of non-major development applications, allowed 
on appeal 

1% 8% 1%  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters 
 

KPI 
Q1 

(2024/25) 
Target 

Q2 
(2024/25) 

Perf 

HHW01 - The average number of working days from DFG 
application to completion of work - **Included in PIP** 

162 days 120 days 166 days  

HHW02 - % of DFG referrals completed within 120 working 
days **Included in PIP** 

22% 50% 34%  

HME07 - % of households spending 42 nights or more in B&B 
accommodation **Included in PIP** 

10% 0% 16%  

Communities  
COM01/02 – Quarter two has seen a total of 34 grants from the Local Councillor Initiative fund, totalling £7,310. 

COM03 – To date there have been no external funds levered by WLDC grant awards during 2024/25. 

COM04/05 – Quarter two reported a small increase in the number of tickets purchased resulting in increased funds 

raised for good causes. The lottery continues to be promoted by Community Officers when working and meeting with 

eligible organisations.  

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

COM01 – Total number of grants awarded 30 N/A 34 - - 

COM02 – Total value of grants awarded £101,720 N/A £7,310 - - 

COM03 – External community funds levered by 
WLDC 

£207,724 N/A 0 - - 

COM04 - The number of Good Causes registered 
with West Lindsey Lottery 

N/A N/A 68 - - 

COM05 - The amount of funds raised for Good 
Causes registered with the West Lindsey Lottery 

N/A N/A £7,350 - - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 37



Home Choices  
A total of 184 homelessness applications was received during quarter two when compared with 164 received in 
quarter one. 

HME01/02 – The percentage of homelessness approaches reporting positive outcomes remains high, reaching 81%, 
up from 76% in the first quarter. This indicates that efforts to enhance engagement are proving effective. Additionally, 
the number of positive outcomes has risen from 147 in the same quarter last year to 149 this year, compared to 139 
reported in quarter one 2024/25. 

HME03/06 – Quarter two reports two additional households in temporary accommodation and six in B&B 

accommodation when compared with quarter one, however there is a reduction in B&B usage when compared with 

the previous year’s quarter two. 

HME05 – The target percentage of households spending 56 nights or more in leased accommodation has been set at 

40% for 2024/25. This measure relates to our current temporary leased accommodation, which consists of five units. In 

the second quarter, four (20%) households exceeded 56 nights, marking an increase from the 9% reported in the first 

quarter. However, this is a decrease compared to the 54% reported in the same quarter last year. 

HME07 – The target for the percentage of households spending more than 42 nights in B&B accommodation has 
been revised to zero for 2024/25, following government guidance. Since the percentage of households exceeding this 
duration has remained below target for two consecutive quarters, this measure is now included in the performance 
improvement plan. A total of 16% of households have been housed in B&B accommodation for more than 42 nights 
during the second quarter, none of which included children. Two of these households required accommodation in 
specific locations to access support; one was excluded from Gainsborough due to probation restrictions, while 
another was fleeing threats of violence in Gainsborough. The last household was escaping domestic abuse in 
Gainsborough, which prevented them from staying in the area. 

The temporary accommodation project is moving forward, with the Council having signed a contract with a provider to 

deliver eight additional units of temporary housing, including two located outside Gainsborough. These new units will 

enhance flexibility in location and provide the support needed, thereby reducing reliance on B&B accommodations. 

The units are expected to be available by the end of September 2025. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

HME01 – Number of homelessness 
approaches with positive outcomes 

147 N/A 149 - - 

HME02 – % of homelessness approaches with 
positive outcomes 

87% 75% 81%  ↓ 

HME03 – Total number of households in 
leased/B&B accommodation 

70 N/A 70 - - 

HME04 – % utilisation of temporary leased 
accommodation  

89% 75% 83%  ↓ 

HME05 – % of households spending 56 nights 
or more in leased accommodation 

54% 40% 20%  ↑ 

HME06 – Number of households in B&B 
accommodation 

55 N/A 44 - - 

HME07 – % of households spending more than 
42 nights in B&B accommodation  

**Included in PIP** 

20% 0% 16%  ↑ 

 
Page 38



Homes, Health and Wellbeing 

HHW01 and HHW02 have been amended, as approved for the 2024/25 measure set, to align with government 

guidance. The targets remain unchanged, and the previous year's quarter one data has been adjusted in this report 

to reflect working days, providing accurate context for the amended measures. 

Following on from quarter one, it has not yet been necessary to delay the approval of DFG applications, however 

50% of the budget to date has been spent, with a further 25% committed, it is expected the team will have to delay 

some applications being approved towards the end of the year and into 2025. 

With the new Government in place, efforts to review the budget situation and advocate for fair funding distribution for 

DFGs are ongoing. A letter has been prepared to address concerns regarding national policy, and Lincolnshire 

County Council has agreed to collaborate on this lobbying effort. 

HHW04 - In quarter two, long-term empty properties accounted for 1.44% of all housing stock in the district, totalling 

613 properties. In the South West Ward of Gainsborough, the number of long-term empty properties remained low at 

just 58.  

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

HHW01 - The average number of calendar days 
from DFG application to completion of works. 
**Included in PIP** 

157 120 166  ↓ 

HHW02 - % of DFG referrals completed within 
120 calendar days **Included in PIP** 

27% 50% 34%  ↓ 

HHW04 - Long term empty properties as a 
percentage of all housing stock in the district 
 

1.39% 2% 1.44%  ↓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



Development Management 
DEV01 - Planning application fee income amounted to £269,980, while pre-application fees contributed £11,805, 

resulting in a total of £281,785 in the second quarter. To date, total planning fees received have reached £697,562, 

which is 73% higher than at the same time last year. This increase is largely attributed to a strong first quarter, during 

which several significant major development applications were received. 

DEV02 – A total of 407 planning applications were submitted throughout quarter two, showing a slight increase from 
the 405 received in the second quarter of 2023/24. Among the 407 applications, eight were major planning applications, 
down from 21 in the same quarter last year. Additionally, there were 61 minor planning applications, compared to 58 
received during quarter two 2023/24. 

DEV03/04 – During quarter two, a total of six out of eight major applications (75%) were determined on time, along 
with 121 out of 125 non-major applications (97%) that were also decided within timescales. 

DEV05/06 - A total of 11 appeal decisions were received in quarter two, all related to non-major developments. Of 

these, 10 appeals were dismissed, upholding the Council's original decisions. Consequently, allowed appeals 

accounted for just 1% of the decisions made during this period, indicating that the quality of decision-making remains 

high. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

DEV01 – Planning and pre-application income £268,288 N/A £281,785 - - 

DEV02 – Received planning applications 405 N/A 407 - - 

DEV03 - % of major planning applications 
determined within 13 weeks or within agreed 
timescales 

100% 90% 75%  ↓ 

DEV04 - % of non-major planning applications 
determined within 8 weeks or within agreed 
timescales 

97% 94% 96%  ↓ 

DEV05 - % of major development applications, 
allowed on appeal 

0% 8% 0%  → 

DEV06 - % of non-major development 
applications, allowed on appeal 

0% 8% 1%  ↓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 
Operational and Commercial Services  

Performance Summary 
 

 

Services Included: 

 Building Control 

 Crematorium 

 Leisure 

 Markets 

 Street Cleansing 

 Trinity Arts Centre 

 Contracts Management 

 Waste Management 

 Garden Waste 
 

 

Measures where performance is above target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI Q1 
(2024/25) 

Target 
Q2 

(2024/25) 
Perf 

TAC01 - Total number of performance and screenings held 47 24 41  

TAC03 - Total number of engagement activities held 164 100 153  

TAC05 - Average spend per head on secondary sales £3.51 £3.00 £3.36  

WAS02 - Amount of residual waste collected per household 42kg 45 kg 41kg  

WAS04 – % of missed black, blue and purple lidded bins 
collected within 5 working days 

99.6% 95% 99%  

LEI03 – % of customer reporting satisfaction with West 
Lindsey leisure events and facilities 

94% 75% 94%  

LFC01 - Services Held 144 130 139  

MKT02 - Average number of market stalls - Saturday 23 14 19  

 

Measures where performance is below target for at least two consecutive quarters 

KPI Q1 
(2024/25) 

Target 
Q2 

(2024/25) 
Perf 

MKT01 - Average weekly number of market stalls – Tuesday 
**Included in PIP** 

23 37 22  

LFC05a - % of services that are direct 15% 18% 15%  

 

 
Page 41



Building Control 
The Council anticipates receiving approximately 150 reversion applications. Reversions are a type of retrospective 

application for works overseen by a private approved inspector who is no longer able to perform their duties. This 

situation arose due to a private sector building control company ceasing operations, leading to all their applications 

being reverted back to local authorities. By the end of the second quarter, a total of five reversion applications had 

been received.  

BDG01/02 – Income has risen compared to the same quarter last year, reaching £65,368 by the end of the quarter. 

Although income remains strong, there has been a decrease in the number of applications received in the second 

quarter. The increase in income is partly attributable to the reversion applications received. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

BDG01 – Income Received £53,403 N/A £65,368 - - 

BDG02 – Applications Received 204 N/A 135 - - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 42



Crematorium 
In quarter two, new regulations were introduced by the Ministry of Justice. As of 9th September 24, a statutory 

medical examiner system was established to provide independent scrutiny of deaths. From this date, all deaths in 

health settings that do not require a coroner's investigation will be reviewed by NHS medical examiners. For Lea 

Fields, this means that cremation paperwork is no longer necessary, streamlining processes. The new medical 

certificate of cause of death, along with the medical examiner review, will take the place of the previous 

requirements. 

LFC01 – The target for services held in 2024/25 has been adjusted and profiled to align with the seasonal trends 

observed at the crematorium. A total of 139 services were held throughout quarter two, surpassing the expected 

target of 130.  

LFC03 – Total income for quarter two reports at £115,686, an increase compared to the previous year’s quarter two 

and reflective of the additional services held. 

Lea Fields Crematorium Business Plan 2024/25 - 2026/2027 has been informally signed off at Management Team, 

with Corporate Policy and Resources Committee due to consider on the 17th October for formal sign off. 

LFC05a – Whilst percentage of services that are direct cremations reports under target, and has done for two 

consecutive quarters, it reflects an improved position. While direct cremations are welcomed, the business plan 

stipulates that over 70% of the service breakdown should consist of standard cremations. This measure cannot be 

assessed in isolation; it should be evaluated alongside the proposed business plan and considered in relation to all 

service types, including standard cremations, direct cremations, farewell services, and early starts. Due to this 

position the measure will not feature in the performance improvement plan, instead the measure set with be 

reviewed as part of the 2025/26 measure and targets review. 

On behalf of the Government, the Council's Food, Health and Safety Team has conducted inspections of all funeral 

parlours. All premises in West Lindsey were inspected and found to be operating effectively. For each inspection, a 

pro forma was completed and submitted to the relevant Government department to confirm the Council's findings. 

Although there was no requirement to inspect crematoriums, an inspection was carried out at Lea Fields to ensure 

operations were proceeding as expected, with no issues reported. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

LFC01 - Services Held  117 130 139  ↑ 

LFC02 – Direct funerals held 24 N/A 20 N/A - 

LFC03 – Income received £96,461 N/A £115,686 N/A - 

LFC04 – Secondary sales £2,840 N/A £2,499 N/A - 

LFC05a - % of services that are direct  20% 18% 15%  - 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



Leisure 
LEI01 – Quarter two reports a decrease in the number of full fee-paying members at the Gainsborough site, with 2,065 
compared to 2,105 in quarter two of 2023/24. However, this is a slight increase from the 2,053 reported in quarter one. 
Market Rasen also reported a slight decrease in memberships, totaling 616 in quarter two compared to 647 in quarter 
two of 2023/24 and 639 in quarter one. 

Measures LEI04/05 have been amended for 2024/25 to provide separate data for the Gainsborough and Market Rasen 
Leisure Centres.  

LEI04 - In quarter two, Gainsborough hosted 1,396 participants in senior active sessions, including Easy Line, SIT 
Fitness, and Stretch & Sculpt. Meanwhile, Market Rasen offered Zumba and Pilates, with a total of 633 participants in 
quarter two. 

Quarter two saw Everyone Active attend Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Regional Contract Manager, 

Regional Activity and Wellbeing Manager and Area Contract Manager presented members with an update following 

their previous presentation in January 2024. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2023/24) Perf DoT 

LEI01a – Number of individual full fee-paying 
Gainsborough leisure centre members 

2105 N/A 2,065 - - 

LEI01b – Number of individual full fee-paying 
Market Rasen leisure centre members 

647 N/A 616 - - 

LEI02a – % of members visiting the 
Gainsborough leisure centre at least once a 
week 

63% N/A 77% - - 

LEI02b – % of members visiting the Market 
Rasen leisure centre at least once a week 

48% N/A 57% - - 

LEI03 – % of customer reporting satisfaction 
with West Lindsey leisure events and facilities 

93% 75% 94%  ↑ 

LEI04a – Number of users of the Seniors 
Active Programme at Gainsborough Leisure 
Centre 

N/A N/A 1,396 - - 

LEI04b – Number of users of the Seniors 
Active Programme at Market Rasen Leisure 
Centre 

N/A N/A 633 - - 

LEI05a – Average number of non-members 
using Gainsborough Leisure Centre per month 

N/A N/A 8,144 - - 

LEI05b – Average number of non-members 
using Market Rasen Leisure Centre per month 

N/A N/A 934 - - 

LEI06 – Number of outreach sessions held 20 N/A 6 - - 

LEI07 – Number of outreach users 384 N/A 124 - - 

LEI08 – Number of leisure centre users 
referred through the Healthy Lifestyle scheme 

131 N/A 96 - - 

  

Page 44



Markets 
MKT01- Quarter two has seen a slight decrease in the number of market stalls occupied by our traders on Tuesdays, 
with an average of 22 stalls per week compared to 23 in quarter two of 2023/24. Last year the annual average weekly 
number of market stalls on a Tuesday was 24. 

MKT02 – In the second quarter, the number of market stalls occupied by traders on Saturdays increased compared 
to the same quarter last year. However, there was a decline compared to the first quarter, which had an average of 
22 market stalls per week. This decrease is partly due to M&H Antiques ceasing operations at the Gainsborough 
market. Despite this, overall performance remains above target, strengthened by a supportive event program and four 
antique traders who registered to continue trading on the Saturday Market. As this measure has been above target 
for two consecutive quarters, it has been removed from the Performance Improvement Plan. 

In line with the approved market action plan the programme of supporting events run by the Council alongside the 
Gainsborough market for quarter two included the following: 

• Saturday 13th July: Farmers and Heritage Skills Market 

• Saturday 10th August Farmers, YMCA Parkour and activities 

• Saturday 14th September: Farmers, Literature Village and WordFest 

Tuesday Date 
Tuesday 

Stalls 
Tuesday 
Traders 

Saturday Date 
Saturday 

Stalls 
Saturday 
Traders 

02/07/2024 26 15 06/07/2024 13 7 

09/07/2024 9 5 13/07/2024 41 33 

16/07/2024 15 8 20/07/2024 14 7 

23/07/2024 26 13 27/07/2024 15 8 

30/07/2024 23 11 03/08/2024 15 8 

06/08/2024 25 13 10/08/2024 25 18 

13/08/2024 26 13 17/08/2024 15 8 

20/08/2024 23 13 24/08/2024 12 6 

27/08/2024 22 11 31/08/2024 12 6 

03/09/2024 26 14 07/09/2024 13 7 

10/09/2024 17 8 14/09/2024 40 28 

17/09/2024 26 14 21/09/2024 12 6 

24/09/2024 23 11 28/09/2024 15 7 

Total Sum Q2 287 149 Total Sum Q2 242 149 

Total Average Q2 22 11 Total Average Q2 19 11 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

MKT01 – Average weekly number of 
market stalls – Tuesday  

**Included in PIP** 

22 37 22  → 

MKT02 - Average weekly number of 
market stalls – Saturday  

9 14 19  ↑ 

MKT03 – Average number of market 
traders per week - Tuesday 

N/A N/A 11 N/A - 

MKT04 – Average number of market 
traders per week – Saturday  

N/A N/A 11 N/A - 

 
Page 45



Trinity Arts Centre 
In early August, Trinity closed for its routine maintenance period. During the last two weeks of the month, the 

venue hosted its first family film festival, featuring 14 family-friendly films. This limited the events for August, 

resulting in a lower average spend per head, as live shows typically yield higher spending. 

TAC01 - Data from the recent program highlights a vibrant array of events at the venue, reflecting a balance 

between community engagement and professional performances. In the second quarter, the venue held 41 

performances and screenings, showcasing local and regional dance and drama schools and highlighting 

community support for homegrown talent. Professional acts like Patti Boulaye and Baga Chipz not only entertained 

but supported efforts to broaden the audience reach. 

TAC03 - The total number of engagement activities for quarter two reached 153, which is notable given that many 

hiring groups take a summer break, resulting in only one engagement activity in August—a full-day Taylor Swift 

workshop. 

In July, Trinity Arts Centre hosted the prestigious Step2Fusion conference, offering the Gainsborough community 

and regional VIPs the chance to come together and explore advancements and future plans for STEP, the UK’s 

prototype fusion energy plant set to be built at West Burton in Nottinghamshire. This event further solidified the 

venues reputation as a hub for significant cultural and professional gatherings. 

Quarter two saw Corporate Policy and Resources Committee approve the Business plan on the 19th September. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

TAC01 - Total number of performance and 
screenings held 

41 8 41  - 

TAC02a - Cinema Screening audience 
figures as a percentage of capacity 

N/A N/A 20% - - 

TAC02b - Live theatre audience figures as a 
percentage of capacity 

N/A N/A 76% - - 

TAC03 - Total number of engagement 
activities held 

48 30 153  ↑ 

TAC04 – Income Received £29,541 N/A £46,354 N/A - 

TAC05 - Average spend per head on 
secondary sales 

£2.36 £3.00 £3.36  ↑ 

Contracts Management 
GLC06 – There are no Council contracts that have expired without extension or new contract in place during 
quarter two. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

GLC06 - Number of expired contracts 0 N/A 0 - - 

 

 
Page 46



Waste Management 
WAS04 – Quarter two sees the percentage of missed bins collected within the service level agreement of five days 
maintain performance at 99%. The use of live reporting via mobile devices for logging missed bins not presented for 
collection, has ensured delivery to the agreed timeframes for collecting missed bins. 

Following approval from the Corporate Policy and Resources Committee in quarter one, grant funding from the 2024-

25 Capital Programme has been allocated to purchase vehicles, caddies, and bins for the district-wide Food Waste 

Collection scheme. The first two food waste vehicles have been ordered and are scheduled for delivery in April 2025, 

enabling the team to start collecting food waste from commercial properties. The remaining vehicles will follow in 

preparation for household food waste collections. Disposal location for the food waste has been established, with a 

facility at Hemswell designated for tipping, allowing the team to make direct deliveries. 

Building on the successful launch in the first quarter, the big bin clear-out service has continued to report positively, 

with an additional 125 bin hires arranged in the second quarter. This service allows customers to rent large capacity 

(1100/660 litre) wheeled bins for non-recyclable waste for a period of one week. 

Performance Exceptions 

KPI Q2 (2023/24) Target Q2 (2024/25) Perf DoT 

WAS02 - Amount of residual waste collected per 
household 

40kg 45kg 41kg  ↓ 

WAS04 – % of missed black, blue and purple 
lidded bins collected within 5 working days 

99% N/A 99% - - 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



1 

Full Forward Plan for All Committees (as at 18 November 2024) 

 
Purpose: 
This report provides a summary of items of business due at upcoming meetings. 
 
Recommendation: 

1. That Members note the contents of this report 
 

Date 
 

Title Lead Officer Purpose of the report Date First 
Published 

CORPORATE POLICY & RESOURCES 

12 DECEMBER 2024 

12 Dec 2024 Council Debts for Write Off 2024/25 Alison McCulloch, 
Revenues Manager 

All council debts over £2,500 for write 
off by committee 2024/25 

22 July 2024 

12 Dec 2024 Scampton update Sally Grindrod-Smith, 
Director Planning, 
Regeneration & 
Communities 

To receive an update on the latest 
matters relating to the former RAF 
Scampton and approve the submission 
of an expression of interest into the 
'ePIMs' process. 

 

12 Dec 2024 Commercial Strategy Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Commercial Strategy  

12 Dec 2024 Review of Cultural Events 2024 Cara Markham, 
Commercial Development 
Manager 

Reflection on the delivery of the legacy 
events, outreach, themed markets and 
community work 

 

12 Dec 2024 Response to Motion - Increased Street 
Sweeping Capacity 

Robert Gilliot, Operational 
Services Manager 

To respond to the motion submitted to 
Council . Setting out options of 
increasing street sweeping capability 

 

12 Dec 2024 Wellbeing Lincs Service Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Managerr 

Details of the new contract to deliver 
the service and West Lindsey role in 
the new service 

 

9 JANUARY 2025 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 6a



2 

9 Jan 2025 Trinity Arts Northern Boundary Wall Luke Matthews, Building 
Maintenance Technician 

Following the previous option paper 
which was presented to Corporate 
Policy & Resources Committee on 18th 
July 2024 where it was resolved that: 
a) Officers commence the procurement 
for the repair northern boundary wall at 
the Trinity Arts Centre as per the 
granted Planning and Listed Building 
Consent number 145568; and 
b) Officers bring back a report to 
Corporate Policy and Resources 
Committee to approve the funding and 
increase the capital programme. 
This paper requests the committee's 
approval for the allocation of funds 
necessary to initiate construction in 
accordance with the granted listed 
building and planning consent, 
following the completion of the 
tendering process. 

23 August 
2024 

9 Jan 2025 2025/26 Measure and Target Setting for 
Progress and Delivery 

Claire Bailey, Change, 
Projects and Performance 
Officer, Darren Mellors, 
Performance & 
Programme Manager 

2025/26 Measure and Target Setting 
for Progress and Delivery 

22 July 2024 

9 Jan 2025 Update on Local Government Settlement Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Update on Local Government 
Settlement 

 

9 Jan 2025 Review of Earmarked Reserves Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

To receive the annual review of 
earmarked reserves in advance of the 
formal Section 25 report (Section 151 
Review of Robustness of Reserves) 
being brought to Council March 2025. 

 

9 Jan 2025 Options Report: Recruitment Emma Foy, Director of To consider options available to the  

P
age 49



3 

Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Council in relation to recruitment 

13 FEBRUARY 2025 

13 Feb 2025 Corporate Policy and Resources Committee 
Draft Budget 2025/2026 and estimates to 
2029/2030. 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

The report sets out the draft Revenue 
Budget 2025/2026 including that of this 
Committee and those recommended by 
the Prosperous Communities 
Committee for the period 2025/2026. It 
also includes estimates to 2029/2030 to 
be included in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 

22 July 2024 

13 Feb 2025 Budget and Treasury Monitoring - Quarter 3 
2024/2025 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

This report sets out the revenue, capital 
and treasury management activity from 
1st April 2024 to 31st December 2024. 

22 July 2024 

13 Feb 2025 Review of Civic Transport Katie Storr, Democratic  
Services & Elections 
Team Manager 

To consider options for the future of 
Civic Transport 

 

13 Feb 2025 Review of the Whistleblowing Policy Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present the updated Whistleblowing 
Policy 

 

13 MARCH 2025 

10 APRIL 2025 

COUNCIL 

27 JANUARY 2025 

27 Jan 2025 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 Angela Matthews, 
Benefits Manager, Alison 
McCulloch, Revenues 
Manager 

To determine new council tax support 
scheme for 2025/26 

22 July 2024 

27 Jan 2025 Mid-Year Treasury Update 2024/25 Peter Davy, Financial This report provides the Mid-Year  

P
age 50



4 

Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

update for  
Treasury Management Indicators in 
accordance  
with the Local Government Act 2003 

27 Jan 2025 Collection Fund - Council Tax Surplus 2024-25 
& Council Tax  Base 2025-26 

Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

The report sets out the declaration of 
the  
estimated surplus on the Council’s 
Collection  
Fund relating to Council Tax at the end 
of March  
2025 and how it is shared amongst the  
constituent precepting bodies. 
 
It also sets out the Council tax base 
calculation for 2025/26. The tax base is 
a key component in  
calculating both the budget requirement 
and the  
council tax charge 

 

27 Jan 2025 
 
27 Jan 2025 

Outcome of the Legal Health Check of the 
Constitution and Arising Recommendations 

Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To receive the outcome of the legal 
health check of the Constitution and 
arising recommendations 

 

27 Jan 2025 Recommendation from the Independent 
Remuneration Panel - Members Allowance 
Scheme 2025/26 

Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present the recommendations from 
the Independent Panel regarding 
allowances to be payable to Members 
in with effect from 1 April 2025 

 

3 MARCH 2025 

7 APRIL 2025 

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT 

26 NOVEMBER 2024 

26 Nov 2024 Q2 Strategic Risk Report Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Quarter two reporting of the Strategic 22 July 2024 

P
age 51



5 

Risk Register 

26 Nov 2024 Update on Fraud Risk Assessment and Counter 
Fraud and Anti-Bribery Work Plan 

Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

to provide an up to date position on 
recommendations arising from the 
Fraud Risk Assessment and to present 
the counter-fraud and anti-bribery work 
plan 

 

26 Nov 2024 Procurement Exceptions Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To present a summary of procurement 
exceptions for the year to date 

 

26 Nov 2024 Procurement Update Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To provide an update on the 
Procurement Act and implementation of 
previous recommendations 

 

26 Nov 2024 Internal Audit Progress Report - Quarter 3 
2023/24 

Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To provide progress update Q3  

21 JANUARY 2025 

21 Jan 2025 Risk Management Strategy Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To present the Risk Management 
Strategy 

 

21 Jan 2025 ISA260 Audit Opinion Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

To present the ISA260  

21 Jan 2025 Audited Statement of Accounts 2023/24 Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

To present the Audited Statement of 
Accounts for 2023/24 

 

21 Jan 2025 External Auditor's Annual Report 2023/24 Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To present the External Auditor's 
Annual Report for 2023/24 

 

P
age 52



6 

21 Jan 2025 Contract Management and Financial Procedure 
Rules 

Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

To update on the contract management 
and financial procedure rules 

 

21 Jan 2025 Review of Local Code of Corporate Governance Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To review the local code of corporate 
governance 

 

21 Jan 2025 Q3 Strategic Risk Report Katy Allen, Corporate 
Governance Officer 

Quarter three reporting of the Strategic 
Risk Register 

22 July 2024 

21 Jan 2025 Draft Treasury Management Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

To present the draft Treasury 
Management report 

 

21 Jan 2025 Review of Whistleblowing Activity Lisa Langdon, Assistant 
Director People and 
Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 

To present the summary of 
whistleblowing activity 2023/24 

 

21 Jan 2025 Annual Governance Statement Update Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

to receive an update following the 
approval of the Annual Governance 
Statement in September 

 

21 Jan 2025 Project and Programme Management Audit 
Findings 

Darren Mellors, 
Performance & 
Programme Manager 

Findings from the Project and 
Programme Management Audit 
undertaken by RSMUK. 

 

11 MARCH 2025 

11 Mar 2025 External Audit Strategy Memorandum Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

External Audit Strategy Memorandum  

11 Mar 2025 Accounts Closedown 2023/24 Peter Davy, Financial 
Services Manager 
(Deputy Section 151 
Officer) 

Accounts Closedown 2023/24  

P
age 53



7 

11 Mar 2025 Combined Assurance Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Combined Assurance  

11 Mar 2025 Internal Audit Draft Annual Plan Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Internal Audit Draft Annual Plan  

22 APRIL 2025 

22 Apr 2025 Internal Audit Progress Report Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Internal Audit Progress Report  

22 Apr 2025 Year End Review of Strategic Risks Emma Foy, Director of 
Corporate Services and 
Section 151 

Year End Review of Strategic Risks  

JOINT STAFF CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 

LICENSING 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

PROSPEROUS COMMUNITIES 

3 DECEMBER 2024 

3 Dec 2024 Voluntary & Community Sector Funding Grant White, Communities 
Manager 

To update on the voluntary & 
community sector funding review and 
present recommendations on future 
funding awards. 

22 July 2024 

3 Dec 2024 Wellbeing Lincs Service Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Managerr 

Details of the new contract to deliver 
the service and West Lindsey role in 
the new service 

 

28 JANUARY 2025 

28 Jan 2025 Prosperous Communities Committee Draft 
Budget 2025/2026 and estimates to 2029/2030. 

Sue Leversedge, 
Business Support Team 
Leader 

The report sets out details of the 
Committee’s draft revenue budget for 
the period of 2025/2026 and estimates 
to 2029/2030. 

22 July 2024 

P
age 54



8 

28 Jan 2025 West Lindsey Housing Register & Nomination 
Policy 

Sarah Elvin, Homes, 
Health & Wellbeing Team 
Managerr 

Paper to adopt an updated policy for 
the Housing Register and nominations 
into Registered Provider properties 

 

28 Jan 2025 Lincolnshire Wolds National Landscape Funding Grant White, Communities 
Manager 

To present a new Memorandum of 
Agreement for the Lincolnshire Wolds 
National Landscape including funding 
commitment matching DEFRA and 
other Local Authority contributions. 

 

18 MARCH 2025 

29 APRIL 2025 

REGULATORY 

5 Dec 2024 Food, Health and Safety Work Plan - Mid Year 
Update 

Andy Gray, Housing & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Manager 

An update on the current position 
relating to statutory food inspections. 

22 July 2024 

 

P
age 55



1 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Plan 

 
NB: Please note this is an indicative work plan, pending confirmation of attending 
presenters.  
 
Dates of Meetings: 
 
26 November 2024 
Scrutiny of Progress & Delivery Reporting through the Policy Committees: Quarter 2 
2024/25 
 
 
14 January 2025 
 
 
25 February 2025 
Markets Working Group – Six Monthly Update (TBC – dependent on working group 
meeting / general progress)** 
 
 
15 April 2025 
Managing Flood Risk – twice yearly 
Portfolio Overview (Director TBC)  
 
 
Pending Items 
 

 Safer Lincolnshire Partnership – see Committee Matters Arising indicated for 
January or February meeting 

 **Markets Working Group – twice yearly  

 Portfolio Overview – per Director (Remaining as pending item for future meetings)  

 Information / Update re: Battery Storage (TBC) 

Page 56

Agenda Item 6b


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Matters Arising Schedule
	5a Scrutiny of Progress & Delivery Reporting through the Policy Committees: Quarter 2 2024/25
	Appendix 1 PC Minutes
	Appendix 2 CP&R Minutes
	Appendix 3 Progress and Delivery Quarter Two 2024-25

	6a Forward Plan
	6b Committee Workplan

